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The trans-Appalachian West was an  open and rapidly growing 
frontier region at the end of the eighteenth century. The lure of 
abundant and productive land, relatively easy river transportation, 
and a considerably diminished threat of Indian attacks helped to 
swell settlements on both sides of the Ohio River. Immigrants 
drawn from the older regions of the country by the economic prom- 
ises and opportunities of the Ohio Valley brought with them famil- 
iar customs, habits, and beliefs, which they fully expected to 
transplant in their new communities. Religion was perhaps the 
most visible and important of cultural institutions, but the nearly 
unlimited opportunities to establish churches in the trans-Appa- 
lachian West were fraught with special problems. Foremost among 
these was the difficulties most Protestant denominations had in 
supplying clergy fast enough to keep up with the westering popu- 
lation. Partly in response to this problem, many churches devel- 
oped innovative practices suited to frontier conditions, such as a 
circuit-riding clergy, missionary churches and ministers, establish- 
ment of frontier colleges to train ministers, and protracted outdoor 
camp meetings. 

The camp meetings of the Second Great Awakening, which co- 
incided with the flood of immigration after 1795, contributed pow- 
erfully to sustaining enthusiasm for religion on the frontier, but  
the revivals intensified other problems. The threat  of schismatic 
splintering among religion-starved settlers who fell under the sway 
of independent-minded clergy and the interdemoninational compe- 
tition for members stirred by the revival imperiled the order and 
integrity of established denominations. Presbyterians in particular 
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were concerned by these problems because they insisted that only 
an educated and orthodox ministry be licensed to spread religion 
on the frontier. They held that a well-trained clergy was especially 
critical for maintaining congregations amidst the fluidity and un- 
certainties of newly settled regions, but such men were often hard 
to find. In this context, early Kentucky Presbyterians were per- 
haps fortunate to discover among their  young settlers James  
Welsh, a Virginia-born pioneer who seemed to have all the quali- 
fications the Presbyterian church required for propagating religion 
in the West. 

Welsh was university trained, experienced a s  a revival 
preacher, and enthusiastic about bringing piety and Christian or- 
der to the often confused and gospel-hungry settlements. In spite 
of his enthusiasm, Welsh did not waver from the Calvinism that 
was Presbyterian orthodoxy. These qualities made him especially 
attractive, and the governing Transylvania Presbytery did not 
hesitate to recruit Welsh just as he was finishing his religious 
studies in early 1792. Like many other Presbyterian ministers de- 
termined to uphold Calvinist orthodoxy in the midst of the turmoil 
of the Second Great Awakening, Welsh faced difficult challenges. 
From outside the church, he strove to  hold back the tide of irrelig- 
ion, deism, and liberal fashions that accompanied Enlightenment 
thinking and political Republicanism. From within,  Welsh 
shunned the emotional excesses of the camp meetings and opposed 
Arminian tendencies that grew out of popular revivalism, such as 
the possibility of personal and universal redemption, although he 
counted himself among the revivalist preachers. In addition, he 
fought against those later Presbyterians whose Arminian evangel- 
ism led them to benevolent reform, social and political activism, 
and an impatience with those who stood in their way of perfecting 
the world. 

In spite of his preparation and qualifications, Welsh did not 
prevail in any of his important encounters with adversity and con- 
sequently failed to make good on the opportunities the frontier of- 
fered. He was hounded out of his prestigious post as a faculty 
member of Transylvania University before 1800, dismissed from 
his church at  Dayton, Ohio, some years later, and suspended from 
the ministry while attending the needs of a struggling congrega- 
tion at  Vevay, Indiana, just a year before his tragic death in 1826. 
In place of welcome, praise, and a gradual rise in esteem and posi- 
tion, Welsh encountered hostility, condemnation, and disgrace. Al- 
though he had all the prerequisites a Presbyterian minister 
needed, Welsh did not thrive. Was it simply that he was unpopular 
and that his orthodoxy was out of fashion among the frontiersmen 
he was dedicated to serve? 

It seems ironic that among the heroes of frontier revivalism, 
which included several preachers who began their careers as Pres- 
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byterians,  were men who subverted the  goals of established 
churches, overthrew tradition, and founded new denominations. 
These were the successes among the frontier clergy. Welsh of 
course could not take this route to immortality, but his inability 
and unwillingness to adjust to popular tastes in religion provide 
only part of an explanation of his failure. Welsh’s life suggests that  
there may have been a greater irony in the Second Great Awak- 
ening: the frontier revivals likely served to constrain Welsh’s op- 
portunities rather than to enlarge them. The evangelical revival 
movement, with its implicit Arminian message and abandonment 
of strict Calvinist theology, swept over nearly all Protestant de- 
nominations during the antebellum years. Welsh simply could not 
abide by the calls to action the converted found implicit in the 
evangelical message of personal and  universal  redemption, 
whether untutored biblical literalism, physical and emotional de- 
votions, or sober calls for organized social reform. 

James Welsh was born in Virginia prior to the Revolution and 
may have been in Lexington, Kentucky, as early as 1781. Little 
else is known about his upbringing, although it is evident from his 
earliest years in Kentucky that he was well educated and commit- 
ted as a young man to a religious calling. Sent out by the Synod of 
Virginia as a missionary during the fall and winter of 1790-1791, 
Welsh preached among outlying Kentucky settlements as a licen- 
tiate of the governing Transylvania Presbytery.’ He then entered 
the Kentucky Academy (later Transylvania University) in Novem- 
ber, 1791, as a divinity student and boarded with Colonel Robert 
Patterson, a Lexington pioneer settler, trustee, and civic leader. 
Welsh remained at the academy for a t  least two years and prob- 
ably earned his medical degree while preparing himself for the 
ministry.’ 

Welsh was encouraged as a student to apply for membership 
in the Transylvania Presbytery, but a deep anxiety about his spiri- 
tual condition made him reluctant to take that step. “I am in tol- 
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erable health of body but in great perturbation of mind,” he wrote 
to the Reverend James Blythe in February, 1792. “I have some 
thoughts of joining Presbytery but know not what is du ty .  . . My 
own deadness, is my greatest difficulty,” he added, complaining 
that he was sick of Lexington and ready to leave. A month later, 
he again confided in Blythe that a “variety of things at present 
seem to conspire to damp my spirits, and Render this vail of tears 
more gloomy. . . I enjoy but little sunshine on my path.”3 In spite 
of his depression and evident spiritual uncertainties, Welsh re- 
mained in Lexington and was accepted as a full member of the 
presbytery within the month. Even so, his anxieties did not disap- 
pear.4 

After completing his studies in 1793 and serving various con- 
gregations in Kentucky, Welsh married Nancy Smith in 1794. His 
marriage and subsequent decision to move to Washington, Penn- 
sylvania (near Pit tsburgh),  his wife’s hometown, temporarily 
raised his spirits. Welsh had high hopes that religion would flour- 
ish under his care, even though his new home was noted for impi- 
ety,  yet  he  also admit ted some ambivalence about leaving 
Kentucky and the friends he had made there. He confided in a 
letter to Patterson that he might return to Lexington if religion 
did not prosper in Pennsylvania and revealed further that  he was 
again filled with many new cares and perplexities. A year later, 
his ambivalence gave way to greater anxieties, especially over los- 
ing contact with Patterson. “I am sometimes a little afraid that you 
have altogether forgotten me,” Welsh wrote to his friend, and he 
complained that Patterson had not written once since he left Ken- 
tucky. Welsh trusted that Patterson was faring well “through the 
visicitudes of this unfriendly world” and hoped to be at Patterson’s 
house again by the spring of 1795.s 

Religion may not have prospered in western Pennsylvania, but 
it is evident that  Welsh grew desperately homesick for his friends 
and acquaintances in Kentucky. By May, 1795, he had returned to 
Lexington and accepted a joint call from the Georgetown and Lex- 
ington churches; he was ordained in February, 1796.6 It was not 
an auspicious time to return to Lexington, as a long-simmering 
dispute among the town’s Presbyterians had just reached a shatter- 
ing climax. Some years earlier, Lexington’s popular revivalist min- 

:I James  Welsh to James  Blyth, March 8. 1792, in Sweet, Religion on the Ameri- 
can Frontier, 11, 716. 
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ister, Adam Rankin, had refused to adopt Isaac Watts’s modern 
hymnal, claiming that  only the literal versions of the Psalms were 
fit to sing in church. In 1789, after Rankin began denying com- 
munion to those who dared disagree with him, a portion of the 
congregation brought charges against the revival minister before 
the Transylvania Presbytery. The case was not heard until 1792, 
but before the presbytery could formally expel the schismatic 
preacher, Rankin withdrew from its jurisdiction. Most of his Mt. 
Zion congregation followed their radical minister into the ultra- 
conservative Scottish Associate Reformed Church, leaving only a 
minority to proclaim itself the loyal First Presbyterian Church of 
Lexington. Patterson was among the leaders of the shattered rem- 
nant of one of Kentucky’s largest Presbyterian congregations, and 
i t  was this church that  Welsh was called to lead.’ 

In spite of the stormy conditions in Lexington, the first few 
years after Welsh’s return were probably the high point of his life. 
He seems to have been well accepted by the congregation, although 
he was obliged to practice medicine to support his family between 
1796 and 1799 because the congregation could not afford to pay 
him a full salary. Welsh became involved in civic affairs, including 
service as  a trustee of the Kentucky Academy at the time it was 
transformed into Transylvania University in 1799. Within the 
year, he was appointed professor of languages at the university.H 
Perhaps most significant for Welsh’s years in his adopted home 
was the presence of Patterson, his friend and confidant since at 
least 1791. When the Lexington church split during the crisis over 
Rankin, Patterson was one of the stalwarts who had upheld ortho- 
doxy and remained one of Lexington’s most respected Presbyterian 
laymen. Patterson had undoubtedly used his influence to help 
Welsh secure his appointments to the Lexington church and to 
Transylvania University, as Patterson was a trustee of both. In- 
deed, Welsh came to rely on his older friend for emotional and 
other more tangible kinds of support. Their friendship developed 
into an  intimate and life-long relationship upon which Welsh came 
to depend to an  extreme degree.” 
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This bit of sunshine that crossed Welsh’s path in Lexington 
unfortunately did not last long. When he defended Presbyterian 
orthodoxy in the face of attacks both from liberal and revival 
camps soon after taking his university chair, he placed himself in 
the very center of doctrinal and political controversy. Liberals, who 
espoused Jeffersonian political beliefs and religious deism, had 
gained a strong place in Kentucky society, and in 1801 they de- 
manded that Welsh resign his position a t  Transylvania. Liberal 
students charged that Welsh favored Presbyterian and Federalist 
scholars; that  he was intolerant, emotional, and impatient with 
those whose views differed from his own; and that he was often 
inattentive to his duties. Welsh did have a tendency toward haugh- 
tiness, and his high-toned Federalism and Presbyterianism were 
clearly an unpopular combination in republican Kentucky. In spite 
of the charges and the public spectacle the controversy prompted, 
the orthodox majority on the university’s board of trustees was ea- 
ger to uphold Welsh and the forces of religious and political conser- 
vatism, even though they did not like him and found him to be 
difficult and intractable. An official inquiry cleared Welsh of any 
misconduct, but continuing student pressure, public humiliation, 
and popular feeling against him forced him to resign.l0 

Welsh remained the pastor of the Lexington church after his 
resignation from Transylvania and participated in the revivals 
that swept across Kentucky in 1801, although there were no indi- 
cations that he was anything but orthodox in his theology.“ Mean- 
while, other Presbyterian revivalists were preaching a mixture of 
Arminianism and antinomianism that directly contradicted Cal- 
vinist doctrines of predestination and limited grace. This mixture 
presented a special dilemma for Welsh during 1802 and 1803 when 
the Synod of Kentucky heard complaints against certain New 
Light ministers. Richard McNemar and John Thompson had been 
charged with deviation from church doctrine, Arminianism, and 
preaching dangerous and pernicious ideas. The synod upheld the 
charges by a seventeen to six vote, concluding the ministers’ views 
were “essentially different from Calvinism.” Although Welsh voted 
with the minority, he did not lose the confidence of the presbytery; 
indeed, perhaps because of his sympathies he was named to a se- 

1 ”  Sonne, Liberal Kentucky, 68-73. Some years earlier, a correspondent had 
chided Welsh for being “quite above the World” and beseeched him to think of more 
ordinary men in his sermons. Andrew McClelland to Welsh, Ju ly  3, 1792, Shane 
Collection. 

“Extract of a Letter, from Colonel Robert Patterson, of Lexington (Ken. )  to 
Rev. Doctor John King, of Pennsylvania (Sept. 25, 1 H O l l , ”  New York Missmnary 
Magazine and Repository of Religious Intelligence for the Year 1802, I11 (1802), 121. 
Welsh did not dissent from presbytery reassertions of Calvinist doctrine; see, for 
example. Miami Presbytery Minutes, April 3, 1811 (Presbyterian Historical Soci- 
ety).  
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lect committee of four to effect reconciliation. This effort failed as 
one member of the reconciliation committee joined the dissidents, 
and five ministers in all withdrew from the presbytery. McNemar, 
Thompson, and fellow revivalists Robert Marshall, John Dunlevy, 
and Barton Stone then organized the independent Presbytery of 
Springfield (Ohio), later known as the Christian Church.I2 Al- 
though Welsh had some sympathy for the revivalists, his inclina- 
tions did not extend to abandoning orthodox doctrine or to joining 
the schismatic revivalists. His actions rather may have been a re- 
flection of the more personal concerns he had about the summary 
treatment of unpopular men, for he too had been the object of simi- 
lar attacks. 

A year after the New Light ministers broke from the Ken- 
tucky Synod, Welsh moved to Dayton, Ohio, a frontier village on 
the Miami River fifty miles north of Cincinnati. He arrived just  as 
the revival movement was sweeping up the Presbyterian churches 
in the region and putting the whole Miami Valley in religious tur- 
moil. Although the small Dayton church, founded only six years 
previously, was one of the few Presbyterian congregations in the 
Miami River Valley to resist the New Light stampede, there was 
considerable revivalist sentiment in the area.’“ Welsh’s move to 
the Ohio frontier may have been especially welcome because he  
had the formal training and experience the Presbyterian church 
was desperately seeking to stem the tide of unrestrained revival- 
ism. Even so, Welsh probably did not leave Kentucky with the in- 
tention of bringing orthodoxy to the Ohio frontier, nor is there any 
indication he left because of any problems he had in Kentucky. 
Despite his rough treatment in Lexington and the dilemma in 
which the revivals had placed him, he had apparently been in good 
standing with his church. 

The key to Welsh’s move to Dayton probably lay with Patter- 
son. His friend and patron had purchased one thousand acres of 
land just south of town and moved his entire household to his new 
farm in 1804. In fact, the fifty-year-old Patterson had been plan- 
ning a move to Ohio for several years. He already had interest in 
a woolen mill his son operated in a neighboring county and may 
have been restless in the fast-growing area around Lexington. In 
addition, Patterson had long opposed slavery, although he  contin- 
ued to own slaves himself, and was frustrated over the stalled an- 

I 2  Sweet, Religion on the American Frontier, 11, 94-97; Davidson, History of the 
Presbyterian Church, 192-98; Catharine C. Cleveland, The  Great Revival in the 
West, 1797-1805 (Chicago, 19161, 136-37; Staples, History of Pioneer Lexington, 271; 
J. P. MacLean, “The Kentucky Revival and Its Influence on the  Miami Valley,” 
Ohio Archaeological and Historical Publications, XI1 ( 1903), 253-63. 

I MacLean, “Kentucky Revival,” 259. 
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tislavery campaign in Kentucky.14 The move to Dayton provided 
Patterson with a fresh start on a new frontier, and his illustrious 
past led him to expect a leading role in building his new commu- 
nity. He joined Dayton’s small Presbyterian church and may have 
suggested to Welsh its possibilities, as Dayton did not have a per- 
manent minister. The move augured well for Welsh, for once again 
he had the support and patronage of his influential friend, and he  
too could make a clean break with the past. 

Neither man realized the promise tha t  they believed this fron- 
tier town could offer. Patterson never got the opportunity to exert 
the influence his previous standing in Kentucky might have led 
him to expect, and Welsh was never fully accepted by the Dayton 
Presbyterians. Patterson’s troubles began soon after moving to 
Dayton when he was twice brought into county court for holding 
slaves on his farm. His accusers were several prominent Presbyte- 
rians of mid-Atlantic origins, most notably town proprietor Daniel 
Cooper of New Jersey and his allies. Although their motives were 
not entirely clear, a simple intolerance for slavery would have been 
reason enough. It is likely tha t  personal animosity between Patter- 
son and Cooper, the area’s two largest landowners and natural 
competitors for prestige and office, was also a significant factor. 
Patterson was found innocent of holding slaves in one case but 
guilty in the second; his reputation was irreparably damaged as a 
consequence. I s  

Patterson remained bitter about his treatment a t  the hands of 
Dayton’s leading men for the rest of his life. He took no role in 
Dayton’s public affairs and removed himself from the Dayton Pres- 
byterian church, vowing never again to have any association with 
the men who had accused him. He was also unsuccessful in seeking 
state-level political office, a s  his enemies used his alleged sympa- 
thies for slavery as a n  objection to his nomination or election.’“ As 

I 4  There may have been an  additional reason Robert Patterson chose to move to 
Dayton in 1804. He  sold much of his Kentucky holdings and his interests in Cincin- 
nati when he was forced to forfeit a $6,000 security bond posted to enable a friend 
to take a position as revenue collector. With the funds left over, he  bought cheaper 
land just  outside of Dayton. Conover, Concerning the Forefathers, 266-71; Joan 
Wells Coward, Kentucky in the New Republic: The Process of Constitution Making 
(Lexington, Ky., 1979), 118-19. 

Conover, Concerning the Forefathers, 284, 312-14. Two separate cases with 
the same name were brought concurrently before the county court in 1805 and set- 
tled that year. See Ohio v. Patterson (1805), Montgomery County, Ohio, Clerk of 
Courts, Common Pleas Civil Law Record, 1803-1833 (Department of Archives and 
Special Collections, Wright State University Library, Dayton). 

Ifi Andrew McCalla to Robert Patterson, Ju ly  5, 1806, Welsh to Robert Patter- 
son, -5, 1808, and David Reid to Robert Patterson, October 3, 1808, Patterson Pa- 
pers. Patterson lost to Daniel Cooper in the  1808 election for the Ohio Senate and 
was defeated in the elections of 1810 and 1812 for a seat  in the Ohio House of 
Representatives. Montgomery County, Election Abstracts, 1803-1826 (Department 
of Archives and Special Collections, Wright State University Library). Patterson’s 
name does not appear in any records of the Presbyterian church. 
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humiliating a defeat a s  this was for Patterson, i t  was a n  even 
greater blow to Welsh, who depended on Patterson’s s ta ture  and 
influence. Welsh’s second marriage in 1811 to Margaret Patterson 
Venable, a widowed Patterson daughter, only strengthened his ties 
to the family. In other situations, this would have been a fortuitous 
union, but Welsh’s loyalty to the Pattersons made him a n  easy tar- 
get for Cooper and other leading men of Dayton. Once Patterson 
had been alienated from the community, Welsh’s position was ex- 
posed. 

The Dayton men who turned on Patterson and then Welsh 
were prominent merchants, craftsmen, shopkeepers, and profes- 
sionals, primarily from New Jersey, but they counted among their 
numbers men from several states.” They were unified by their am- 
bition not only to make Dayton a prosperous commercial center but 
also by their vision of the central role the church might play in 
ordering the community. Their view of religion’s social role had 
been influenced by the currents of Presbyterian and Congrega- 
tional evangelicalism tha t  were just  gathering in the Northeast 
and mid-Atlantic states. Northern evangelicalism suggested a 
modified version of the Calvinist doctrine of election, which al- 
lowed for greater individual initiative in seeking personal salva- 
tion and encouraged social reform activities. These evangelical 
reformers scorned the southern-style revivals for their undiscip- 
lined emotionalism, yet they were no more comfortable with the 
doctrinal orthodoxy that  Welsh and other conservative revivalists 
offered. Many of the Jersey men and their allies may not have 
cared to defend the particularities of election, humankind’s inabil- 
ity to save itself, and special redemption, but they placed more em- 
phasis on one’s ability to effect a spiritual change within and to 
reform society at large. In this emphasis they probably differed 
with Welsh because they sought to use the church a s  a base for 
wide-ranging social reforms predicated on the assumption tha t  or- 
ganized people could do much to change the social and moral con- 
dition of the world.IH 

‘:The leading members of the Jerseyite connection included Cooper (a  New 
Jersey surveyor and proprietor of Dayton); Horatio G. Phillips (successful Dayton 
merchant, recruited by Cooper from New Jersey);  Joseph Pierce (merchant from 
Rhode Island); James  Steele (Pierce’s partner and brother-in-law, a merchant from 
Kentucky); Isaac Burnet (newspaper editor, from New Jersey); William King (ferry 
keeper, raised in Pennsylvania and lived in Kentucky). All were trustees of the  
Presbyterian church. 

I” The religious and social ideas of those identified as  “evangelical reformers” 
are inferred from thelr behavior, a s  none left explicit reference to their  thinking. 
They all opposed Welsh as  minister and were instrumental in calling two northern 
men to succeed him, Backus Wilbur la Princeton graduate from New Jersey, called 
in 1817) and Ahab Jenks  ( a  Connecticut Congregationalist, called in 1819). By the  
early 1820s, these reformers and their wives were the most prominent founders and 
leaders of a miniature benevolent empire in Dayton, which included a n  academy 
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Welsh’s personality and latent sectional animosities also con- 
tributed to the minister’s problems. He had already proven tha t  he  
was a difficult and irascible person, and his behavior in Dayton did 
not indicate that  he had changed. In addition, many of his Jersey- 
ite detractors may not have cared for his southern revival back- 
ground or for his most ardent supporters, the poor Kentucky 
farmers in the neighborhood. In spite of mutual animosities, the 
Dayton church could not entirely do without Welsh. There was a 
shortage of trained Presbyterian ministers throughout the West, 
and Welsh was in particular demand by other Miami Valley 
churches. So long as  Welsh lived in Dayton, the governing presby- 
tery could not ignore him when the Dayton church requested the 
services of a minister.‘” The Jerseyite reformers could not get rid 
of Welsh either, so they made life for him as difficult as possible. 
The congregation never offered him a regular call nor was any at- 
tempt made to raise a subscription for his salary. Instead, the 
church called him on a year-by-year basis, often for less than full- 
time service. Welsh was forced to supplement meager contributions 
from members by offering his services a s  a physician and as the 
proprietor of an  apothecary’s shop.2” 

Welsh fought back as best he could. He had support from a 
number of Kentucky farmers who lived in the surrounding country 
and a few friends within town, although these men were clearly a 
minority of the congregation. Welsh also had at least three allies 
among the five elders who constituted the church’s ruling session: 
John Miller, Hezekiah Robinson, and John McKaig.21 The session 
had primary responsibility for calling a minister, enforcing disci- 
pline, and accepting new members; Welsh exerted considerable 
power as  its moderator and manipulated i t  for his own interests. 
He probably contrived to prevent the election of additional elders, 

11808). Sunday school (18171, female Bible society (1817), county Bible society 
11822), and mission society (1822). These men also held prominent political offices. 
including town trustee and representatives to the Ohio legislature. In contrast, 
Welsh and his allies were notably absent from all of these activities. Wallace N. 
Jamison, Religion in New Jerse-y: A Brief History (Princeton, N.J., 1964), 34-43: 
Charles C. Cole, J r . .  The Social Ideas o f the  Northern Euangelicals, 1826-1860 (New 
York. 19541; and Lois W. Banner, “Presbyterian Voluntarism in the Early Repub- 
lic,’’ Journal of Presbyterian History, L (Fall ,  19721, 187-205. Contrast Anne C .  
Loveland, Southern Evangelicals and the Social Order, 1800-1R60 (Baton Rouge, 
La., 19801, 91-129, 159-85. 

Welsh supplied eight other churches between 1808 and 1817 in addition to 
serving Dayton. Miami Presbytery Minutes, 1808-1817. 

”‘Miami Presbytery Minutes, October 8, 1808, April 3, 1811, April 12. 1812. 
March 23, 1813; Dayton Repertory, March 1, December 7, 1809; Dayton O h ~ o  Cen- 
tinel. February 6, 1812. 

John Miller was a hatter from Kentucky; Hezekiah Robinson was a miller, 
probably from Kentucky; and John McKaig was a farmer. As for the other two 
elders, James Hanna (weaver from Ireland) remained neutral for a number of years 
before actively opposing Welsh, and William King (ferry keeper from Kentucky) 
opposed him from the start .  
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for example, as no elections to augment the session were held after 
1806. The effect was to leave the session essentially friendly to 
Welsh and in a position to frustrate his critics. The session was 
also remiss in its duties, perhaps deliberately so. It did not keep 
minutes of its meetings, as required, and rarely forwarded congre- 
gational reports to the presbytery. Deliberate or not, the  session’s 
laxities worked to frustrate Welsh’s detractors. There could be no 
accurate accounting of members without session records, which 
might have made it easier for Welsh to disguise the extent of divi- 
sion among the congregation. Similarly, the presbytery may have 
found it difficult to take action against Welsh without specific com- 
plaints by the elders, although i t  did cite Dayton for its failure to 
send annual reports.’2 

Welsh rarely attended presbytery meetings anyway and would 
not have been on hand to answer any questions concerning irregu- 
larities in the Dayton church had they been posed. Nevertheless, 
the presbytery was suspicious a s  early as 1808 when it wrote to 
Welsh inquiring why he had not attended presbytery meetings for 
two years. It hoped tha t  his absences were not intentional, but of- 
fered him a reasonable chance to explain. Ill-health was his reply, 
as  it would be on several other occasions, and apparently this was 
a satisfactory response.2“ Welsh may also have been too exhausted 
to make every semi-annual presbytery meeting. In addition to 
preaching in Dayton a n  average of two Sundays a month, he was 
also called upon to supply churches in a fifty-mile radius, necessi- 
tating journeys of one or two days for each visit. He also made 
rounds as a physician and attempted to keep his drugstore in Day- 
ton. Chronic ill health and strenuous demands of his work un- 
doubtedly took their toll, yet Welsh would have had good reason to 
avoid the presbytery whenever possible even without these conven- 
ient excuses. 

The congregation’s board of trustees also remained in the 
hands of Kentuckians friendly to Welsh. Elections for this govern- 
ing body were not called for six years after 1807, although the 
usual procedure provided for annual terms of office.24 Trustees met 

LL Miami Presbytery Minutes, October 6, 1808, October 1, 1811, September 12, 
1812, September 27, 1814. Daniel Cooper charged Welsh with cheating in church 
elections and other dishonorable dealings. and the church records indicate consid- 
erable irregularities. Je r ry  Fox Vincent, A Cabin Grows: The His fory  o f a  Church, 
1799-1946 (Dayton, Ohio, 1949), 7. 

L‘ Welsh was absent from over 60 percent of all presbytery meetings between 
1808 and 1822. Discussion of Welsh’s absences are found in Washington Presbytery 
Minutes, October 4, 1809, in “Minutes of Washington (Ohio) Presbytery, 180% 
181 1.” Journal of Presbyterian History, XXVII (December, 1949). 229-34; Miami 
Presbytery Minutes, April 3, 1811, April 12, 1812, April 15, 1814, October 5, 1819. 

L,4 The trustees between 1807 and 1813 were David Reid (from Kentucky), John 
Ewing (Kentucky), John Miller (Kentucky). James  Miller (Kentucky).  Cooper (New 
Jersey). Hanna (Ireland). and McKaig (former residence unknown). Book of Minutes 
of the First Presbyterian Church of Dayton, 1804-1828. Records of the First Pres- 
byterian Church of Dayton (Presbyterian Historical Societyl. 
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separately from the minister, and they had primary responsibility 
for the church’s physical property and finances. Control of the con- 
gregation’s finances provided one opportunity for Welsh’s enemies 
to gain control of the church and perhaps oust him, for although 
they were not a majority on the board, they were by far the wealth- 
iest men in town. They had already made Welsh uncomfortable by 
denying him a salary; they could also use their wealth to insinuate 
themselves into positions of power. Thus when the trustees pro- 
posed building a meetinghouse ( the congregation met in the  county 
courthouse after selling their log cabin in 18041, a door was opened 
for Welsh’s eventual downfall. The trustees began in 1807 by ap- 
plying to the county for deeds to four donation lots offered by pro- 
prietor Cooper. The prospect of owning real estate and a building 
in turn prompted the board to seek incorporation for the church. 
The special act of incorporation was introduced into the Ohio leg- 
islature by Cooper, who was also a state senator, and finally passed 
its required third reading in 1812. I t  granted the church the  right 
to raise subscriptions, buy and sell property, and other privileges, 
although the trustees had engaged in some of these practices al- 
ready. It also required new elections to the board, which provided 
an  opportunity Welsh’s reform-minded opponents 

The 1812 election for trustees resulted in a rough balance be- 
tween the Welsh and reform factions, as did the balloting the fol- 
lowing year. The mixed board proceeded slowly, doing little more 
than clearing a new graveyard and buying a more favorable build- 
ing lot. The 1814 election brought some of the long-smoldering con- 
flict into the open, as questions were raised concerning who had 
the right to vote. Because there were no records of members and 
the charter was silent on the matter, the board declared tha t  those 
persons who believed themselves to  be baptized, who resided 
within ten miles of Dayton, and who contributed to the congrega- 
tion were eligible to vote. As the session kept no baptismal records 
either, residence and contribution to the church were the operating 
criteria, which favored the evangelical reform faction led by Coo- 
per. The trustees drew up a list of twenty-eight men who were de- 
clared voting members, and a majority of them were men known 
to oppose Welsh. Seventeen of these men actually voted, and, not 
surprisingly, four of the five trustees they chose (Cooper, Horatio 
G. Phillips, Mathew Patton, and James Steele) were among the 
leading reformers and most prominent residents. The formal ex- 
change of offices took place under unusual circumstances and amid 
deep mistrust and evident ill will. The outgoing and incoming 

‘ ~ l h i d ,  May 9, 1807, December 3, 1811, and April 6,  1812 An Act Incorporat- 
ing the First Presbyterian Congregation in the  Town of Dayton, 10 Ohio Acts 
t1812), 85-88 
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members of the board met in the law offices of John Folkerth, a 
fellow Presbyterian and justice of the peace. Under his supervision, 
the records and financial papers of the church were transferred to 
the new trustees.26 

The new trustees immediately embarked on a plan to build a 
brick meetinghouse near the center of town, which required a n  ad- 
ditional $250 to purchase a more desirable lot from proprietor Coo- 
per. Building costs already exceeded several thousand dollars, but 
some of the wealthiest and most prominent reformers were not en- 
tirely satisfied. They wanted a clear mandate for a n  even larger 
meetinghouse than planned, including the addition of a second 
story and steeple, since the leading reformers were willing to pay 
for it. In preparation for the next annual trustee elections, they 
contrived to tighten requirements for voting a second time as a 
means of securing the election of men who would support their 
grand plan. The trustees obliged by declaring prior to the 1815 poll 
that  none but residents of the town and neighborhood who had con- 
tributed to the building of the meetinghouse or to the support of 
the minister and who were willing to come under the government 
of the church were eligible to vote. These new qualifications de- 
manded a more specific financial commitment to the church and 
excluded most of Welsh’s few remaining supporters. J u s t  twelve 
men voted in 1815 and elected a board dominated by the ambitious 
reformers.27 

Confrontation with the minister burst into the open when the 
new trustees led the effort to get rid of Welsh. The Dayton Ohio 
Republican announced in May tha t  the presbytery had assigned 
several ministers to preach to the Dayton church in place of Welsh, 
a fabricated report as insulting to Welsh as i t  was offensive to the 
presbytery. In its September, 1815, meeting, the presbytery ap- 
pointed a committee to investigate the source of the “scandalous 
and abusive” article and further ruled tha t  a request for supply 
from the Dayton church, no doubt the work of the determined re- 

lh Book of Minutes, May 29, J u n e  12, J u n e  19, September 28, 1813, and April 
12. 1814. Henry L. Brown, “Early History of the First Presbyterian Church of Day- 
ton,” in A History of the First Presbyterian Church of Dayton, Ohio, from 1845 to 
18RU, ed. Clarke McDermont (Dayton, Ohio, 18801, 13. List of male members 118131, 
Miscellaneous Papers. 1814-1918, Records of the First Presbyterian Church. Elec- 
tion held for trustees and other officers of the First Presbyterian Congregation of 
Dayton, April 5 ,  1814, h i d .  James  Hanna. the fifth trustee elected in 1814, soon 
joined those attempting to oust Welsh. 

Edwin A.  Parrott,  “Historical Sketch of the Church, and Its Pastor,” in Cen- 
t e m p  Souvenir, Commemorative of the Completion of a Century by the First Pres- 
byterian Church of Dayton, Ohio (Dayton, Ohio, 1900), 36. Book of Minutes, May 5, 
1814. April 4, 1815. An election held for Trustees and other officers of the  first 
Presbyterian Congregation of Dayton, April 4, 1815, Miscellaneous Papers, 1814- 
1918. The trustees elected in 1815 were Williams, King, Patton, Burnet, and 
Hanna. 
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formers, was out of order, presumably because i t  did not come from 
the elders and because the congregation still had the services of 
Welsh. It resolved to meet in Dayton the following spring to “en- 
quire into and redress the evils existing in said church.”28 

The presbytery was not pleased with what i t  found in  Dayton 
when i t  met there in April, 1816. I t  concluded tha t  a second re- 
quest for supply from Dayton was disorderly, in spite of the diffi- 
cu l t ies  over  Welsh ,  because  i t  found no  g e n u i n e  c a u s e  for  
complaint against him; the presbytery also admonished the trus- 
tees for not providing Welsh with adequate salary. When i t  real- 
ized t h a t  t h e  church  was  hopelessly divided,  i t  advised  t h e  
congregation to lay aside contention and be satisfied with minis- 
ters the presbytery could supply “until God in his providence shall 
send them a pastor to whom the affections of the people may gen- 
erally be united.” As a compromise, the presbytery proposed tha t  
Welsh serve part time, provided the church compensate him. I t  
also dropped its investigation into the source of the scandalous 
newspaper article and directed the elders to be more attentive to 
the congregation. Two months later, the  presbytery directed the 
Dayton session to hold new elections for elders under supervision 
of a presbytery member and to open a session book.29 

Confident of the eventual outcome of the crisis, the  reformers 
went ahead with plans to replace Welsh. In June,  they circulated 
a subscription for the support of one Reverend Moses Allen for a 
year, which was signed by all sitting trustees. Seventy-eight men 
subscribed $656, with Cooper, Phillips, Steele, and Joseph Pierce 
the major contributors. Despite Allen’s evident support from a 
large portion of the congregation, once again the presbytery re- 
fused Dayton’s request for services of a minister other than Welsh. 
Instead, i t  suggested that  elders James Miller and John H. Wil- 
liams conduct a poll of the congregation to determine if Welsh 
should be retained. In the meantime, i t  allowed Welsh to serve the 
church a t  his discretion.:”’ 

The presbytery gave him the benefit of every doubt, but Welsh 
became despondent as i t  became clear he would not last much 
longer. His support was weakening even among the elders, and he 
probably knew the poll of the congregation would show little en- 
thusiasm for keeping him. He complained to Patterson tha t  he was 
“nearly broken down” and accused his old friend of abandoning 
him and his daughter to suffer “anything & everything, tha t  may 

1* Dayton Ohlo Rrpublican, May 4 ,  1814. The paper was coedited by Burnet, 
one of the chief proponents of an  enlarged building. Miami Presbytery Minutes, 
September 19, 1815. 

Miami Presbytery Minutes, April 5, 1814, April 2, J u n e  25, 1816. 

ous Papers. 1814-1918; Miami Presbytery Minutes, September 17, 1816. 
‘I’ Subscription to support Moses Allen for one year, J u n e  28, 1816, Miscellane- 
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befall us, before . . . your enemies.” The five sitting elders were 
confirmed in their offices as a result of the special election man- 
dated by the presbytery, and the new session met without Welsh. 
Reverend Peter Monfort, “moderator by invitation,” opened a ses- 
sion book in May, 1817, and began the business of bringing the 
congregation to 

Not long afterward, eighty-two men signed a subscription for 
the support of Reverend Backus Wilbur, a licentiate from New Jer- 
sey, for a five-month period. Welsh’s friends responded a few days 
later on March 25 with a petition signed by forty-four persons sent 
to the Miami Presbytery requesting that Welsh be allowed to 
preach two Sundays a month in Dayton. They accompanied it with 
a subscription for $166 toward his salary. The list of forty-four pe- 
titioners and the meagerness of the subscription revealed the shal- 
lowness of Welsh’s support. Only ten signers had any previous or 
subsequent association with the Dayton congregation. Former trus- 
tees Williams, Robinson, and Andrew Hood were among the peti- 
tioners, while none of the reform trustees cared to retain Welsh. 
Among prominent non-members was Patterson, who came out of 
his self-imposed exile to aid his friend.S2 This petition drive was no 
effort to retain Welsh in the pulpit; rather the Kentucky revival- 
ists realized that support for their minister had collapsed utterly 
and that he would be forced out. Their effort was instead aimed a t  
establishing a Second Presbyterian Church. Welsh himself moder- 
ated the meeting that elected trustees for the proposed second 
church; among those named were Hood and Robinson, two of 
Welsh’s most loyal allies among the old trustees and elders, and 
Henry L. Brown, another Patterson son-in-law, but a man who also 
had no previous association with the Dayton 

The crisis over Welsh broke during 1817. The presbytery that 
assembled in April considered the petition to retain Welsh in a 
second church and the reformers’ request for the services of Wil- 
bur. Hanna, Dayton’s lay representative to the presbytery, reiter- 
ated the reformers’ complaints about Welsh. In its decision, the 
presbytery gave the Dayton congregation permission to hire Wil- 

Elders John Miller, Hanna, King, and McKaig pledged to Allen’s subscrip- 
tion. Welsh to Robert Patterson, September 13, 1816, Patterson Papers; Session 
Book of the Presbyterian Church, Dayton, 1817-1839, May 24, 1817, Records of the 
First Presbyterian Church. 

p2 Again, reformers Phillips, Steele, Pierce, and King were among the major 
subscribers. Subscription to support Backus Wilbur for five months, March 20, 
1817, Miscellaneous Papers, 1814-1918; Petition to the Miami Presbytery, March 
25, 1817, ibid.; Miami Presbytery Minutes, April 1, 1817. 

:I:’ Dayton Ohio Watchman, November 20, 1817; anonymous letter, ibid., Decem- 
ber 4 ,  1817; Brown, “Early History of the First Presbyterian Church,” 10. Henry L. 
Brown was secretary to Colonel Robert Patterson in 1793 and remained close to the 
Pattersons after both men moved to the Dayton area. Brown married Katherine 
Patterson. Conover, Concerning the Forefathers, 288-89, 290. 
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bur temporarily, pending a full investigation, and held tha t  the 
two private petitions for Welsh’s services were disorderly, although 
i t  left other charges for the next meeting.34 Meanwhile Welsh 
charged Hanna with “slanderously and unjustly accusing him of 
falsehood and dishonorable conduct” in the presbytery as Williams, 
Robinson, and Hood also brought charges against Hanna. The pres- 
bytery, in turn, called upon Dayton to furnish proof tha t  a majority 
of the congregation opposed Welsh and disallowed another private 
petition for Welsh’s services.:I5 During the summer, the presbytery 
dropped its investigation as the pending complaints were quietly 
settled, and i t  accepted evidence presented by the Dayton elders 
that  a majority of the congregation opposed Welsh. Although i t  al- 
lowed the congregation to call Wilbur and excluded Welsh from 
serving in Dayton, he remained in good standing with the presby- 
tery 

Welsh was assigned to supply other churches in the Miami 
Presbytery for several years after tha t  fateful conclusion to his or- 
deal, but he resumed his lax attendance at presbytery meetings.“’ 
Welsh remained in Dayton only another year, all the while strug- 
gling to make his living with means at hand. He continued his 
medical practice, operated his drugstore, and platted a speculative 
tract called North Dayton, which failed to attract the mechanics 
Welsh hoped would buy his lots. Late in 1818, he decided to leave 
Dayton and move on to Vevay, a struggling village in adjacent 
southwestern Indiana where he had preached from time to time. 
He sold his house, town lots, household goods, and cow, and peti- 
tioned the county court for permission to vacate his unsuccessful 
North Dayton plat.:’” By early 1819, he was living in Vevay. 

Welsh faced the prospect of establishing himself on his third 
frontier with uncharacteristic optimisim. “Business is not yet, very 
lively, but the country is filling fast & that  business will yearly 
encrease I have no doubt,” he wrote to his brother-in-law Francis 
Patterson. Welsh was preoccupied with the move, and in the ab- 
sence of a regular call to a settled church, he became more con- 
cerned about financial matters in his new home. He  built a house 

’ I  Miami Presbytery Minutes, April 1. 1817. 
Session Book of the Presbyterian Church, Dayton, 1817-1839, May 24, 1817, 

June  5. 1817, Records of the First Presbyterian Chruch. 
I‘, Session Book, August 13, 1817; Miami Presbytery Minutes, September 2, 

1817. William Gray to Miami Presbytery, September 4, 1817 (Presbyterian Histor- 
ical Society]. 

IT Welsh attended just  two of twenty presbytery meetings between October 28, 
1817 [the first meeting after his dismissal from Dayton), and April 9, 1822 (when 
his church a t  Vevay, Indiana, came under the jurisdiction of the  new Presbytery of 
Cincinnati). Miami Presbytery Minutes. 1817-1822. Extended illness was his likely 
excuse, as the presbytery accepted his reasons as satisfactory. Ibid., October 5, 1819. 

‘”Dayton Ohio Watchman, March 11. 1816. April 23, May 7, 1818: Welsh to 
Francis Patterson. February 15, 1819, Patterson Papers. 
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and probably a new drugstore, in part with lumber he obtained 
from Robert Patterson, and discussed business prospects with the 
Pattersons.:i9 Perhaps because of his new involvements, he often 
failed to supply the few congregations the presbytery assigned him 
and more than once was called upon to provide sufficient reason.40 

In spite of this relapse to old habits, Welsh was offered a n  op- 
portunity to redeem himself in 1822 when he was assigned to the 
new Presbytery of Cincinnati, created from the older Miami Pres- 
bytery. The new presbytery treated Welsh with some deference and 
respect: he was appointed moderator of the presbytery, was sent  
as the presbytery's representative to  the annual General Assem- 
bly, and was assigned to a number of other responsible tasks. He 
also accepted a call from the congregation at Vevay for his minis- 
terial services in the same year, although its supplication did not 
mention a regular ~ a l a r y . ~ '  Unfortunately, Welsh was unable to 

Welsh to Francis Patterson, February 15, 1819, Welsh to Robert Patterson, 

Miami Presbytery Minutes, October 5, 1819, April 18, 1829. 
July 25, 1819, Patterson Papers. 

' I  Cincinnati Presbytery, Minutes, April 10, 11, October 15, 16. 17, 1822, April 
8. 1823. Presbyterian Historical Society. 
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follow up on this new opportunity. Not in good health and without 
a regular income, he was naturally under great pressure to provide 
for his family. His medical practice, drugstore, and other business 
ventures suffered under the depressed economic conditions follow- 
ing the banking panic of 1819. Increasingly, he turned his atten- 
tions to his faltering businesses and to the immediate needs of his 
family a t  the expense of his ministerial 

Welsh was thus under a great deal of strain after 1822. In 
addition to his evident ill health and poor financial condition, he 
was advancing in years and had few options left. He must have 
also been bitterly disappointed by his failure as a minister and the 
wretched condition in which he found himself near the end of his 
life. Welsh was desperate and turned to alcohol to relieve his pains. 
The presbytery could perhaps excuse his absences and failures to 
perform minsterial duties for reasons of health or overwork, but 
when word reached its ears that  Welsh had taken to excessive 
drinking, it could no longer remain impassive. On April 18, 1825, 
the Cincinnati Presbytery opened a formal investigation into 
Welsh's conduct at Vevay.42 

Welsh tried to delay the three-man investigating committee 
appointed to go to Vevay and make inquiries, claiming that how- 
ever innocent he might be, damage to his character would result 
from the public nature of the investigation. Nevertheless, the com- 
mittee would not alter its charge and went ahead with its inquir- 
ies. I ts  report to the presbytery in J u l y  cited th ree  specific 
chargeable sins under the discipline of the church: intemperate 
use of wine and strong spirits, unfair dealings in the transaction of 
temporal business, and neglect of church interests. Welsh was or- 
dered to appear a t  Vevay to answer the charges before a special 
meeting of the presbytery.+' 

The presbytery opened the trial on Wednesday, August 10, 
1825, expecting it to last only two or three days, but a series of 
tragic delays stretched it out to more than a week, thoroughly ex- 
asperating the presbytery and driving Welsh to distraction. On the 
first day of the trial, Welsh requested a delay on account of the 
severe illness (probably typhoid) that had struck his family. One 
day was granted, but on Thursday, the trial resumed with Welsh's 
innocent plea and the calling of the first witnesses. On Friday, the 
trial was interrupted by a local physician, who reported that 

I L  Welsh was absent from eight of eleven presbytery meetings between 1822 
and 1825, but the presbytery usually accepted Welsh's explanations for his ab- 
sences. His reasons were not recorded, but Welsh had cited ill health in the past: 
and it is likely this may have been his stated excuse again.  Cincinnati Presbytery. 
Minutes. April 9. 1822, to July 5, 1825. 

" Cincinnati Presbytery, Minutes, April 18, 1825. 
I-' Ibid., Ju ly  5, 6 ,  1825. 
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Welsh’s daughter-in-law Hester lay dying. Welsh requested a n  in- 
definite delay, but the presbytery granted only a two-hour suspen- 
sion for him to attend to his family. Welsh, obviously agitated by 
the presbytery’s refusal to accommodate him in this crisis, initially 
refused to  return, but after assurances that he would be given 
leave to rush home in case of any emergency, Welsh relented and 
the trial resumed.45 

Preoccupied by his family’s crisis and the imminent death of 
Hester, Welsh repeatedly sought time to attend to his family, but 
the presbytery stubbornly insisted on proceeding through Satur- 
day. After Hester’s death on Sunday, the presbytery allowed Welsh 
only a two-hour break on Monday for the funeral. When testimony 
concluded on Wednesday of the second week, Welsh was in no con- 
dition to  mount a defense, but again, the presbytery rejected pleas 
for a further delay. Welsh finally walked out of the trial and re- 
fused to return. Even this did not stop the presbytery’s relentless 
quest for a judgment. It deemed Welsh‘s conduct contumacious and 
decided unanimously that the evidence substantiated all 

The presbytery concluded that the sin of drunkenness had 
been supported by several witnesses on two specific occasions. 
Welsh’s defenders focused on this charge, as it must have been con- 
sidered the most serious of the three, and cited the minster’s ad- 
vanced age and his chronic afflictions as explanations for his 
erratic behavior. “Welsh’s physical inability, the inactivity of his 
eyes, the clumsiness of his tongue, as well as the irregularity of his 
bodily motions,” one anonymous defender wrote, “may all be ac- 
counted for upon his complicated diseases which would be too te- 
dious to explain.” Welsh’s physician offered his diagnosis of chronic 
hydrothorax, which, he said, had worsened in recent weeks. Welsh 
was thus compelled to take laxatives and other “drastic medi- 
cines,” resulting in anorexia, dyspepsy, and loss of appetite. The 
smell of whiskey on Welsh’s breath, these defenders suggested, was 
nothing more than the result of small amounts he took to relieve 
his pain.47 

The presbytery was not impressed with this defnese and was 
no less harsh in its judgment of the other two charges. Although 

4 s  Ibid., August 10, 11, 12, 1825. The identity of the daughter-in-law is uncer- 
tain. Welsh’s wife Margaret bore a daughter Maria Eliza in 1807 by her  first hus- 
band, Dr. Samuel Venable, but Maria Eliza Venable married in 1826 and lived 
until 1880. Welsh’s daughter Hester is mentioned in a manuscript history of the 
Vevay church, but she is not included in any of the  Welsh or Patterson genealogies. 
Julie LeClerc Knox, History of the  Presbyterian Church a t  Vevay, Indiana 11960l 
(Hanover College Library, Hanover, Indiana); Conover, Concerning the Forefathers, 
422-23. 

Ih Cincinnati Presbytery, Minutes, August 13, 15, 16, 17, 1825. 
Ibid., August 17, 1825; A n  Exposition, Relating to Some of the Proceedings of 

the Ohio Presbytery, in Trial of the Rev. James Welsh, at Veuay, in Augus t ,  1825 
(Vevay, Ind., 1825), 3-4, 7. 
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unfair dealings had not gone so far as fraud, the testimony never- 
theless showed “a course of conduct which is destitute of that open- 
ness, fairness, and disinterestedness which the precepts of the 
gospel require.” Finally, i t  judged the evidence that Welsh ne- 
glected his duty as overwhelming. Perturbed by Welsh’s demeanor 
during the trial and noting the “gloomy aspect” that hung over the 
whole affair, the presbytery showed no sympathy for Welsh’s plight 
or recognition of his double distress. The presbytery’s only compas- 
sion was in inflicting the penalty of suspension, instead of outright 
deposition, in hopes of later recon~il ia t ion.~~ Unfortunately, Welsh 
could no longer be reconciled to the vicious visicitudes of an  un- 
friendly world, as he once characterized life. Despondent over the 
loss of his daughter-in-law, humiliated by the trial, ill, and nearly 
bankrupt, Welsh committed suicide little more than a year after- 
ward.49 

Welsh’s ordeal and tragic failure on the frontier did not stem 
from lack of preparation, opportunities, or influential friends. 
Welsh had a university degree and pursued professional careers in 
ministry and medicine, both of which were in high demand on the 
frontier. Offices were always open to him, and even after several 
disastrous experiences churches never failed to call for his services. 
The presbyteries, too, continued to place him in positions of trust 
and responsibility despite misgivings they may have had about his 
reliability. In addition to all the support he could reasonably ex- 
pect from the Presbyterian church, Welsh also relied on friend and 
patron Robert Patterson, who helped him obtain positions in both 
Lexington and Dayton, provided advice and counsel, and sustained 
his friend as best he could through Welsh’s life. Welsh seemed to 
have all that a man needed to succeed and prosper on the fron- 
tier-and more. 

Welsh’s difficulties stemmed from several factors: his person- 
ality and personal problems, the downfall of his patron, the grim- 
ness of frontier conflict, and the political implications of the Great 
Awakening. Welsh was undeniably a difficult person. He was can- 
tankerous, intolerant, and unreliable a t  the very least, and his 
haughtiness invited harsh treatment from men who had little pa- 
tience with him or his ideas. Welsh’s rejections made him all the 
more resentful and depressed, while his feelings of unworthiness 
cast a gloomy spell over his entire career. His chronic ill health, 
overwork, and harassed life also took a heavy toll. Welsh finally 
turned to drink and ultimate despair when living became too de- 

‘” Cincinnati Presbytery, Minutes, August 17, 1825. 
dy Conover supplies November 10, 1826, as the date of Welsh’s death, but men- 

tions nothing of the cause. Conover, Concerning the Forefathers, 318-19. See also 
Lucien V.  Rule to Samuel Wilson, January 15, 1936, Unclassified Manuscripts 
(Presbyterian Historical Society). 
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pressing and burdensome. Welsh’s temperament made i t  likely 
that  he would have had difficulty wherever he lived, but the fron- 
tier may have magnified his problems. 

Patterson’s influence and connections undoubtedly helped 
Welsh gain his university post and pulpits. Even in half-formed 
frontier society, family and friendship ties counted for a great deal. 
Welsh made the right connections, and they worked to his advan- 
tage early in his career; but his relationship to Patterson went be- 
yond the usual ties of patronage and friendship. Welsh also relied 
on his father-in-law for emotional support, and this dependency 
made Welsh dangerously vulnerable. When Patterson lost his 
status and influence in Dayton and withdrew from church and so- 
ciety, Welsh suffered a doubly devastating loss. He could no longer 
depend on Patterson’s stature to help build the Dayton church, and 
Patterson’s downfall also left Welsh with little protection from his 
friend’s powerful enemies. Welsh’s fortunes were too closely iden- 
tified with his patron’s, and when Patterson fell, Welsh was unable 
to loosen the bonds that  tied them together. 

Frontier society was also harsh and unforgiving, perhaps even 
cruel a t  times. I t  was certainly no egalitarian meritocracy, where 
talent, experience, and hard work would guarantee reward. A 
man’s politics, religion, origins, and connections played as much a 
role in his ultimate success as how hard he worked, and Welsh was 
certainly aware of these factors. Indeed, as a minister and natural  
leader, he was inescapably drawn into the very center of political 
conflict. In each place tha t  Welsh sought to make home, religious 
issues had distinct social and political implications; in each place 
there were ambitious men with their own agendas, little social hi- 
erarchies in the making, and keen competition for office and lead- 
ership. This was true in Lexington, where the popular majority 
held distinctly liberal religious and political views quite opposed to 
those held by Welsh, and in Dayton, where a Jerseyite clique 
gained virtual control over the church and all facets of social and 
political life. Both groups excluded Welsh and men like him who 
stood in their way. 

Although Welsh lacked the skills and flexibility needed to 
thrive amidst the conflict that  was rife on the frontier, the  Great 
Awakening itself exacerbated both the nature of tha t  conflict and 
Welsh’s troubles. The Calvinist orthodoxy of the Presbyterian 
church and the bleak social and political precepts of a Calvinist 
world view were under attack by awakened evangelicals. The 
preaching of the Great Awakening placed greater emphasis on 
spiritual rebirth, the ability to affect one’s own salvation, and the 
possibilities of perfecting this world. The social and political impli- 
cations of these and other liberating evangelical notions provided 
some with new opportunities on the frontier, but they also raised 
havoc in a society that  had no firm foundations. Good men and 
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women disagreed about how best to carry out the evangelical pre- 
scriptions for social salvation and fought over leadership of frontier 
communities, but Welsh and others who held on to a dying ortho- 
doxy had little to offer this new social order. Welsh may have 
failed his mission on the frontier, but the social and political tur- 
moil that  followed closely in the wake of the Great Awakening pro- 
vided the special context tha t  made his success nearly impossible. 


